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MGA TIMELINE 1950–1962



	3 January 1951
	The Morris Motors Board agrees a funding contribution of £850 that allows work to begin on ‘EX 172’ – a Le Mans car for George Phillips.



	23–24 June 1951
	1951 Le Mans ‘Grand Prix d’Endurance’ – 24 Hours: George Phillips (co-driver Alan Rippon) drives his special-bodied MG TD Midget (EX 172; ‘UMG 400’; Car No. 43), reaching up to 116 mph on the Mulsanne Straight. Car retired following engine problems.



	14 November 1951
	Morris Motors Board authorizes £350,000 for a new MG Magnette for the 1952 Motor Show and a Wolseley for spring 1953 – one week before the merger is announced.



	23 November 1951
	Nuffield Group and Austin announce a merger, to be consummated the following spring.



	28 November 1951
	As a consequence of the merger, all future model plans are ‘placed in abeyance’ by the Morris Motors Board.



	20 February 1952
	As MG at Abingdon conceive a ‘1,500 streamlined Midget’ – the basis of ‘EX 175’ – the first drawing is EX 175/1, dated 20 February.



	21 October 1952
	1951 Earls Court Motor Show; Donald Healey’s ‘Healey 100’ becomes the ‘Austin-Healey 100’ overnight and an announcement is made at the Show on 23 October.



	24 October 1952
	MG’s EX 175 proposal for a streamlined sports car with XPEG engine is shown to BMC management but is rejected for investment.



	3 November 1952
	John Thornley – assistant General Manager since 1948 – takes over from Jack Tatlow as General Manager at MG, Abingdon.



	17 December 1952
	The Morris Motors Board Minutes record that Lord Nuffield has resigned his role as Chairman (and becomes Honorary President); Leonard Lord takes over as Chairman of BMC.



	12 February 1953
	The Morris Motors Board sanctions the tooling cost for the ‘Project No. 41 MG TF Midget’ of £27,000.



	11 June 1953
	The Morris Motors Board considers and approves in principle ‘DO 1049’, which is Gerald Palmer’s MG Midget proposal, with a provisional tooling cost of £250,000.



	17 September 1953
	The MG TF Midget enters series production (TF0501). On the same day, the Morris Motors Board authorise expenditure for a ‘high performance version’ of the BMC B-Series engine – which becomes the MG Twin Cam engine.



	21 October 1953
	1953 Earls Court Motor Show: MG ‘Z’ series Magnette and MG ‘TF’ Midget (1250) appear at the Motor Show. Triumph TR2 appears at same show.



	1 June 1954
	Drawing office established at Abingdon, with several key staff transferring from Cowley.



	3 June 1954
	First entry in MG at Abingdon’s records against the Cowley Design Order Number, ‘DO 1062 – New MG Midget’ – for what would become the MG Series MGA.



	29 June 1954
	John Thornley writes one of his many memos – this one to R. F. Hanks – about his proposals for Le Mans 1955, in which MG would enter ‘substantially standard DO 1062s, the object being to give a demonstration of high-speed reliability of the new model and qualify for the biennial cup. This is a thing one can only do once. In 1956 we must enter to win our class, and a pretty stiff class it now is.’



	8 September 1954
	The Morris Motors Board formally approves ‘DO 1062’ (the future MGA) with a tooling estimate of £70,000. Abingdon had already been working on it for at least four months.



	1 December 1954
	The MG Competition Department is recreated, initially sharing the workshops of the Development Department, pending the completion of a new workshop next door.



	
4 April 1955
	The final MG TF 1500 goes down the line at Abingdon (Chassis No. 10100 – after a production run of 9,602 cars).



	16 May 1955
	First production MGA starts down the line at the MG factory at Abingdon-on-Thames.



	27 May 1955
	The first production left-hand-drive MG MGA (an Orient Red car with black trim, Chassis No. HDC43/10106) begins assembly at Abingdon; build lasts until 8 July 1955 and the car is despatched on 13 July 1955.



	11–12 June 1955
	1955 Le Mans ‘Grand Prix d’Endurance’ – 24 Hours: a three-car team of ‘EX 182’ prototypes is entered. Two cars finish in 12th (‘LBL 302’ – Car No. 41; Ken Miles/Johnny Lockett) and 17th places (‘LBL 303’ – Car No. 64;Ted Lund/Hans Waeffler). Third MG (‘LBL 301’ – Car No. 42, Dick Jacobs/Joe Flynn) burst into flames after leaving the track in the sixth hour at Maison Blanche (‘White House’), soon after the Mercedes tragedy. Fourth car – ‘LBL 304’ – was not raced.



	13 July 1955
	First US export specification MGA, an Orient Red LHD car HDC43/10106, is completed at Abingdon.



	16 July 1955
	First production RHD MGA leaves the factory, ahead of the September launch.



	21 September 1955
	One of the MGA show cars is airfreighted from London Airport to the Frankfurt Motor Show by TWA. The event is recorded in a short colour Pathé news film.



	22 September 1955
	Formal launch of the MGA, at the Frankfurt Motor Show (22 September–2 October 1955). An Orient Red car with wire wheels, flown in by air from London, is shown alongside another car.



	7 October 1955
	42nd Paris ‘Salon de l’Automobile’ (6 October–16 October 1955) opens to the public, who mainly flock to see the striking new Citröen DS19. The MGA is the only all-new British car on display.



	19 October 1955
	1955 Earls Court Motor Show (‘40th International Motor Exhibition’, 19–29 October): MGA makes its UK show debut at Earls Court; three cars are shown; red, white and blue specimens.



	11 January 1956
	The Minutes of the Morris Motors Board meeting approves tooling costs for the MGA Hard Top of a modest £5,000.



	24 March 1956
	1956 Sebring 12 Hours race: a three-car team of white MGAs driven by an all-American team of drivers wins the ‘team prize’. Results were 4th in class and 19th overall (Kincheloe/Steve Spitler – Car No. 50), 5th in class and 19th overall (David Ash/Gus Ehrman – Car No. 49) and 22nd overall (Fred Allen/John Van Driel – Car No. 51). MGAs would compete at Sebring in 1957, 1959, 1960, 1961 and 1962.



	7 May 1956
	The Morris Motors Board formally authorises tooling costs of £8,000 for the MGA Coupé.



	27 July 1956
	The first CKD MGA kit leaves Cowley for Australia, to be assembled eventually at the Pressed Metal Corporation in Enfield, Sydney.



	13 September 1956
	Various BMC Executive changes are announced: George Harriman becomes deputy chairman and joint managing director with Sir Leonard Lord, J R Woodcock is deputy managing director of BMC (but retaining his post of deputy chairman of Morris Motors) and John Thornley, general manager of MG and Riley since 1952, becomes a director of BMC.



	12 October 1956
	Production version of Vanden Plas alloy hardtop for MGA announced (similar to version already seen on Alpine Rally in July). This had the MG project code of ‘EX 196’, dating from 7 February 1956. MG ‘ZB’ Magnette was also launched, with earlier version being known as ‘ZA’. MG MGA Coupé‚ announced; this project received the MG code ‘EX 197’.



	17 October 1956
	1956 Earls Court Motor Show (17–27 October): the MGA Coupé (an Old English White car with wire wheels – Car No. 20672) and ‘ZB’ Magnette make their public debuts. Display also includes a LHD MGA roadster with transparent bonnet on a rotating turntable.



	22 April 1958
	MG MGA Twin-Cam enters production. Car YD1-501 – mounted on the line 22 April, despatched 28 July 1958.



	14 July 1958
(Monday)
	MG MGA Twin-Cam launched. A ‘demonstration day’ is held at the Ministry of Supply Fighting Vehicles	Research and Development Establishment at Chobham in Surrey, at which over 100 journalists are given the opportunity to try the new car.



	31 July 1959
	MG MGA 1600 (with 1,588 c.c. ‘B’ series engine) launched. Production started in May. The MGA 1500 had already earned some £21.5 million in US revenue for BMC.



	6 April 1960
	The final series-production MGA Twin Cam (YD1-2610, a Chariot Red roadster with red interior) starts its build at Abingdon. One more car, YD1-2611, would be specially built after formal end of production for Michael Ellman-Brown in May/June. Surplus chassis, with front and rear disc brakes, used for ‘MGA De-Luxe’. Last MGA Twin Cam built May 1960 (see entry below).



	
18 May 1960
	An MGA Twin Cam Roadster (YD1-2611; Engine No. 2245), specially finished in Woodland Green with Beige Interior for Michael Ellman-Brown, begins assembly at Abingdon, being finally marked as despatched on 14 June.



	28 June 1961
	MGA 1600 Mk. II launched, with 1,622 c.c. ‘B’ series engine.



	12 March 1962
	100,000th MGA produced at Abingdon (GHNL2-107989); the car is finished in metallic gold with cream leather interior trim and gold-painted spoked wire wheels. Exhibited at New York Motor Show, seemingly with chrome-plated wire wheels.



	14 May 1962
	The last MGA 1600 Mark II Roadster, Chassis No. 109070 starts assembly and leaves the production line on June 7th 1962, marking a total of 101,081 MGAs built.



	22 May 1962
	First production MGB – a left hand drive Iris Blue car, GHN3-102 – is built. A total of 12 production cars are built in May (including a single right hand drive car, GHN3-101) and production builds up for the September launch.



	20 September 1962
	ADO23 MG MGB launched. MGB features new 1,798 c.c. version of the ‘B’ series engine.





                 

INTRODUCTION

In many walks of life, whenever dramatic change happens to something with a passionate following, there will be significant risk of a backlash from those loyal fans who resist the new in favour of what they already know and love. Such was the challenge faced by John Thornley and Syd Enever when they unveiled their new sports car in 1955. The aerodynamic form of the MGA owed little to the upright pre-war style of its predecessors, even if it drew on some of MG’s record-breaking and racing exploits – with a clever Le Mans 24-Hour race angle.

It was a gamble because the stakes were high: MG was synonymous with sports-car culture, and such a bold deviation from the past could easily have upset the faithful – acolytes of the ‘sacred octagon’. However, change was inevitable because the progress in automotive technology and evolving customer expectations meant that the spindly, square-rigger style of the old MG Midget, no matter how pretty, was outmoded and out of step with the rest of the market.

Even so, getting to the point of revolution was a protracted process: there were moves to reinvent MG, which began as the parent organization emerged from the end of World War II, exports in mind, just ten years before the launch of the MGA. It is therefore important to understand the forces at work over that crucial decade, and the context of how the ‘new line’ became possible, as well as the people who made it possible – or threatened to get in the way.

For this reason the first chapter of this book delves into the background in unprecedented detail to show what preceded – and precipitated – the genesis of the MGA. Of course the bulk of the book covers the whole story of a car that went on to sell in unprecedented numbers, with more than 101,000 examples emerging from the famous Abingdonon-Thames factory by the time that the baton was passed to a worthy successor. Peter Thornley, John Thornley’s son and author of an excellent biography Mister MG, credits his father with creative thinking so that projects such as the MGA moved forwards ahead of formal authority:

Most of Pop’s development projects were created exbudget; if it had not been for a creative and amenable chief accountant Abingdon would not have survived as long as it did. And Pop would not have had half as much fun!



This is where the MGA began its journey – on a sheet of paper laid on this dining table in Syd Enever’s home in the Oxford suburbs. The scale model seen here is Enever’s design for a further record breaker, EX 233, which was never developed.
ENEVER FAMILY

There should be no doubt that the MGA was an important car for many reasons: it broke with the past, won new friends, and provided a sound platform for an MG business and factory, which would go on to even greater heights during the subsequent eighteen-year production of the MGB. Remarkably it was conceived originally by MG’s Chief Engineer when he sketched out his basic idea for a new aerodynamic MG on his dining-room table at his home in the Oxford suburbs.

It is also a fact that many modern designers cite the MGA, rather than its successor, as their favourite MG of all time, and some of them even feel that it could also form the basis of a pattern for the future of MG sports-car design. This then, is the story of ‘the first of a new line’, a truly revolutionary MG.

In March 1962, Syd Enever, MG Chief Engineer, made the following statement in the press release for the 100,000th MGA, Nuffield Organisation, with regard to the MGA and sports cars:

We aim to give sports-car motoring to as many people as possible, and to give it to them at the right price. We do not wish to make a small quantity of high priced, specialized cars for the few. At the same time, we set out to provide the fastest possible car combined with the greatest possible degree of safety.

And in an interview in 1970 he said:

A sports car, in appearance, performance and personality, should epitomise the character of the sport... the MGA started life on my dining-room table... nowadays, designers are part lawyers.

The following is a quote from John Thornley, MG General Manager, on clever production expansion at Abingdon:


We made our assembly lines by building little low brick walls with pre-cast concrete channels on the top, that a motorcar would roll along: it was a channel one side, and a flat platform the other – so this would take varying tracks, and cars were propelled from one workstation to the next by the good old way of pushing! The benefit of this arrangement was that if, in looking at the factory layout, we decided that, if we shuffled those three lines up a little bit closer together, we could get a fourth line in here, you see, then all we had to worry about was the electrics and the compressed air; everything else was just standing on the floor. So five o’clock Friday, everybody stops, the maintenance boys move in, knock the whole bloody place to pieces, and by eight o’clock on the Monday morning, we’re in operation with four lines instead of three, you know? Six months later, we had five lines instead of four – and this is how it went, by and large. And how, in this marvellous period that I could live over and over and over again, really... not easy though: we were designing over the other side; I was trying to produce more and more motor cars all time...

.... taped interview, 1974, courtesy John McLellan




    CHAPTER ONE    

THE	MG LEGACY

The story of the origin of MG has been told many times – how it began as an offshoot of the early Oxford-based garage enterprise of William Richard Morris, managed from 1922 by Cecil Kimber (he joined in 1921), who developed the business, with the benevolence of his patron, into a sports-car manufacturer of international renown.

From the earliest days there was something of a creative tension between the fairly mundane source material and the rakish, sporting creations drawn from them. From time to time, MG’s exploits have perhaps veered too far towards the realms of the exotic and bespoke, and on nearly every such occasion the process has ended in tears: MG has been at its best when operating in the modestly priced section of the market, offering a hint of the exotic for a reasonable outlay.

Thus, for example, when Kimber gradually allowed enthusiasm and expenditure to burn through the budget, with a multiplicity of specialized models and much racing activity, the outcome in 1935 was to close the racing shop and abandon the prevailing model range. However, such is the appeal of a modest, everyman’s sports car – typically in the guise of rugged giant-killer – that the MG badge lived to fight again, and has survived more than ninety years of history.

OXFORD TO ABINGDON

What became, almost by osmosis, the MG sports car, was created out of various Morris Garages premises before moving to a new £20,000 factory at Edmund Road, Oxford, in 1927 and then, just two years later, to a larger site in Abingdon-on-Thames, Berkshire, which evidently cost ten times as much. The site had formerly been occupied by part of the Pavlova Leather Works, demand for whose military leather coats had understandably dropped after 1918, but who nevertheless remained neighbours for many years in their reduced operation. So began the association of MG production with Abingdon, which would endure for fifty years.

For a long time prior to the story of the MGA, about which this book is, of course, mostly concerned, and especially before World War II when the range was at its most diverse, the Abingdon factory’s overall output volume was seldom at the forefront of the parent organization’s practical production considerations. However, the six years of war brought a great many changes throughout industry and society in general, not least the recognition, as the conflict drew to a close, of the importance of tapping into a growing demand overseas for the kind of sports car for which the MG name had become famous, as a way of earning much needed export currency.

During the war itself, the MG factory adapted to the changed circumstances with admirable efficiency, but an unfortunate consequence of Kimber’s independent manner, which saw him and his management go out and seek gainful work contracts rather than gratefully accepting the sweepings from Cowley, was his effective dismissal in 1941, ostensibly for being too much of a free spirit in a corporate environment. Tragically he was to die in a train accident just four years later, and so never saw MG’s post-war recovery – but also bear in mind the sobering thought that he died only ten years before the MGA appeared.

With the desire to build MG up again after the war came an almost inevitable series of tussles as various forces within the parent organization, some benign and some less so, sought to influence how the forecast increase in demand could be addressed. The decade before the MGA first arrived on the scene is consequently a very important period to understand: some of the key players in that period certainly shaped the MG Car Company in a way that made the first aerodynamic MG sports car a possibility, and its ultimate sales success so impressive.



LORD NUFFIELD, CECIL KIMBER, MILES THOMAS AND HAROLD RYDER




Without William Richard Morris or Cecil Kimber there would never have been any MG cars, let alone an MGA, so their story bears brief reflection.



William Morris, later Sir William and ultimately Lord Nuffield was the founder of Morris, Morris Garages and in consequence MG.
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WILLIAM RICHARD MORRIS

William Morris (10 October 1877–22 August 1963) was born in a modest terraced house in Comer Gardens, Worcester, to Frederick and Emily Morris; when he was three, the Morris family moved to James Street in Oxford, and there began his lifelong association with the City.

Despite his mechanical aptitude and nascent business acumen, some of Morris’s early business relationships faltered. Morris nevertheless bounced back – and thereafter built his enterprise through stealth and cunning.

According to Morris historian Peter Seymour, the fact that Morris had not only been a motor dealer, but had retained his own car retailing business, provided him with a level of insight into the business denied some of his rivals; Seymour maintains that ‘all the dealers worshipped him because, fundamentally, he understood their business.’

CECIL KIMBER



Cecil Kimber in ‘Old Number One’ in 1925.
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Cecil Kimber (12 April 1888–4 February 1945) was born in the London suburb of Dulwich. The family moved to the North West, and Kimber attended Stockport Grammar School.

An increasing interest in the modern marvel of cars led him to get a job working for Sheffield-Simplex around the time that World War I began.

In 1921, Kimber had started work at Morris Garages. It was here that Kimber forged the basis of the ‘Morris Garages Specials’, which eventually evolved into the first true ‘MG’ cars – a dividing line that has long been hotly debated by historians. At Morris Garages, Kimber developed a range of special bodies for Morris cars, eventually leading in 1928 to the founding of MG as a separate marque specializing in sports cars. The new company moved from Oxford to Abingdon in 1929, and Kimber became Managing Director in July 1930.

Throughout the following decade the reputation of MG grew, and the factory spent quite heavily on racing and the creation of an increasingly complex model range – such that the range expanded again in the lead-up to World War II.

With war under way, car making at Abingdon ceased, and soon fed up with having to make do with the crumbs of war work passed down from Cowley, Kimber – aided by leading staff Propert and Cousins – began to seek out new contracts. This proved to be his undoing, as he was visited by Miles Thomas in November 1941 and forced to resign from the business he had come to love. Kimber soon found employment elsewhere, but he would never live to see MG’s post-war reconnaissance, because he was one of two victims of a freak railway accident just outside King’s Cross Station on the evening of Sunday 4 February 1945.

WILLIAM MILES WEBSTER THOMAS



(William) Miles Webster Thomas, later Sir Miles Thomas, and, from 1971, Lord Thomas of Remenham.
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William Thomas (2 March 1897–8 February 1980) was born at Cefn Mawr, Wrexham, in Wales. Thomas was educated at Bromsgrove and later Birmingham University. During World War I, he gained the DFC in 1918.

After the cessation of hostilities he found employment as a motoring journalist with Motor, and then became editor of Light Car in 1923, when he came to meet William Morris. Morris employed him to start a dedicated magazine, The Morris Owner, which began publication in 1924.

In the meantime, however, Thomas moved upwards through the ranks of Morris’s organization, becoming General Manager and later Managing Director of Wolseley in 1933 and 1937 respectively. Eventually Thomas became Vice Chairman of the Nuffield Organisation in 1940. Thomas’s relationship with Lord Nuffield became somewhat frayed. Morris historian Peter Seymour feels that the act that sealed Thomas’s fate was becoming involved with the Colonial Development Corporation in October 1947, which Lord Nuffield probably viewed as a product of the Labour Government, and therefore anathema to His Lordship. The following month, Thomas left the Nuffield Organisation and pursued a career in other industries, including the BOAC Airline.

His legacy includes helping to identify the importance of the US market, and a modernizing shake-up of the old orders and designs, which led eventually, after he had gone, to the further changes that made the likes of the MGA possible.

HAROLD ALFRED RYDER

Harold Ryder (23 September 1888–10 October 1950) was born in Aston, Birmingham. During World War I he took charge of Doherty Motor Components, suppliers to William Morris; in due course he moved to Oxford and became a partner in Osberton Radiators at Osberton Road.

Morris bought the business in 1923 in order to expand it, and kept Ryder in charge, making him a director in 1926. Thereafter Ryder became one of Lord Nuffield’s few truly trusted associates. When Nuffield’s Vice Chairman Oliver Boden died in 1940, many expected Ryder to take his place; instead Miles Thomas was given the senior job, while Ryder was put in charge of Cowley and, by association, MG. It was Ryder who helped Abingdon get started again with car making post-war, and MG enthusiasts – including MGA owners – owe him a debt of gratitude if only for that. He was removed in 1947 after the management purge that followed Thomas’s departure, and died just three years later atYarnton, near Oxford.



H. A. (Harold) Ryder was a trusted associate of William Morris; when Kimber left, MG at Abingdon fell under Ryder’s purview and he was instrumental in helping Cecil Cousins and Syd Enever to restart MG Midget manufacture at the end of the war.
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MG MIDGET – THE GIANT KILLER

The concept of an MG Midget sports car is perhaps the idea most closely associated with the MG marque, but its early success was enhanced by the comparative misfortune of some of its larger and more expensive brethren. Cecil Kimber had presided over the evolution of the early ‘Mark’ MGs which had evolved from Morris underpinnings, and if Kimber had had his way, they would have led to a kind of ‘Junior Bentley’ with a more thoroughbred countenance and far fewer mundane Cowley roots on show.

The ultimate incarnation of this attempt to claw the marque up-market came with the large and imposing MG 18/100, known as the ‘Tigress’, which was supposed to propel MG into a more exotic part of the market. Meanwhile, however, the MG Midget had been created on the basis of the contemporary Morris Minor, and was beginning to show its colours as a trusty and affordable means of entry into motor sports.



Kimber had great hopes for this grand sports car, the MG 18/100 ‘Tigress’ – an exotic car with thoroughbred aspirations that was rather more in the mould of a Bentley than a Morris – but it was outshone by the smaller MG Midgets and was soon abandoned.



From modest beginnings as an offshoot of the Morris Minor, the early 1930s MG Midget evolved into a feisty light sports-car range, including this racing J4 Midget.
ENEVER ALBUM

The race debut of the 18/100 did not go well, however, and as a consequence the project went no further; by contrast the little MG Midgets became more numerous and successful and so cemented the basis of MG’s future prosperity. Over the ensuing period of the early 1930s, MG went from success to success, and the model range expanded, the MG M-Type Midget giving way to the J2 and then the PA and PB Midgets, while there were 6 cylinder-engined Magnas and Magnettes sitting above the Midgets, with many parts in common.

The style of the J2 largely defined the ‘form’ of the MG Midget, even through into the Cowley-designed T Series, which, after the upset of MG racing activities being curtailed by Len Lord, replaced the P Types in 1936; with the intervention of World War II just three years later, the evolution of the pre-war style of the TA and the rare TB into the post-war TC would prove to be hardly noticeable to the untrained eye.



For many MG enthusiasts, the ultimate expression of the marque in the early 1930s was the K3 Magnette, seen here in 1933 Mille Miglia guise.
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After the departure of Cecil Kimber, life at Abingdon continued – there was a war on, after all – and supervisory management was ceded to Harold Alfred Ryder, an old associate of William Morris, who had been in charge of Morris Radiators at Cowley from 1919. Responsibilities during those years were very different to the pleasant peace-time task of turning out sports cars, but the men and women of the MG plant set to and contributed nobly to armament and other specialized operations.

However, with a likely end to war-time activities foreseen as early as the spring of 1943, the forward programme for Abingdon began to be a subject of debate. Despite his de facto role as Kimber’s sucessor, Harold Ryder, who was no great enthusiast of sports cars, but nevertheless recognized the need for MG to get back into production. Miles Thomas contacted the heads of each of the Nuffield Organisation subsidiaries in March 1943 and Ryder responded by suggesting that the 1¼ litre MG saloon (a prototype of which – DO 811 – Thomas had been driving, and which would eventually emerge as the MG Y-Type) would be the best place to start.

By the autumn of the same year, tentative thoughts were already being formulated as to how MG would be organized after the war was over, perhaps with less of the independence of pre-war days. In October 1943 Harold Ryder wrote to Miles Thomas setting out his thoughts on the matter:

Because MG is a small factory, it makes sense to put Nuffield Mechanisations at Cowley, and reinforce the policy of all MG design to happen at Cowley under Mr Oak and the Drawing Office and Experimental Department at Cowley. If MG is not allowed by government to make cars after the war, the factory can be used to make parts for other cars.

In other words, if the plans for the 1¼ litre and a handful of Midgets were not viable, the factory could simply become a satellite of Cowley.



SYD ENEVER






Syd Enever was the principal author of the MGA, but he cut his teeth at Morris Garages in 1920, and as well as MG’s racing and record-breaking endeavours he became adept at successfully finding solutions where others failed.
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Hampshire-born Albert Sydney (‘Syd’) Enever (25 March 1906–9 February 1993) was absolutely crucial to the creation and development of the MGA, being Abingdon’s celebrated chief engineer for a period that spanned both sides of the model’s production story. Born in Colden Common, near Winchester, Syd was the last born of five children; his four sisters were Florence, Frances, Gertrude (who died young) and Leonore – so Syd was the only boy.

His parents separated in 1909, and his mother Maud set up home nearer her family’s roots in Oxford. Syd was educated at South Oxford School, and while there he came to the attention of the headmaster, Mr Benson, who had the foresight to help secure a place for his promising young student at Morris Garages in Queen Street, Oxford, in the spring of 1920. This was before Cecil Kimber was employed there as manager.

After a year, Enever transferred to the Clarendon Yard premises in Cornmarket. Soon coming under the wing of Cecil Cousins, Enever became adept at servicing and repairing customer cars using all the equipment in the workshop. He also became well known in the garage for being an expert at diagnosing problems and fixing them in record time. At the age of twenty, Enever joined the MG Car Company’s Experimental Department; when MG moved to Abingdon in October 1929, Enever was made head of the department – a meteoric rise for a twenty-three year old.

Over the following decade, Enever, along with the likes of ‘Jacko’ Jackson and Cecil Cousins (see profiles later), was right at the heart of the MG factory’s racing and record-breaking exploits; this included a part in the design of Goldie Gardner’s EX 135, and culminated in the last successful pre-war record-breaking attempt at the Autobahn in Dessau, Germany, in May 1939. Meanwhile in 1935, when the changes that led to the closure of the MG racing department took place, and principal design responsibility moved to Cowley, Enever stayed at Abingdon. With his aptitude and knowledge (much of the latter gleaned from visits to Oxford Reference Library), Enever was at the forefront of all the development work at Abingdon and an active participant in many of MG’s endeavours, including, as we shall see, several factory-built specials.

When MG got its design office in 1954, Enever really came into his element, and as this coincided with the gestation of what would become the MGA, his story is absolutely fundamental to its development. As well as the MGA, Enever would go on to contribute to the MG Midget, the MGB and the MGC, as well as a number of one-off ‘EX Register’ concepts, although he retired just too soon to see the birth of the MGB GT V8.

After being precipitated into retirement in May 1971, Enever was invited to work as a consultant on Jensen and Jensen-Healey products, no doubt encouraged by Kjell Qvale. That venture did not last, however, and final retirement in October 1974 was not the happiest prospect for a man whose whole working life had been MG and who had no hobbies.

John Thornley often praised his friend and colleague, calling him a ‘man of genius’:

It is not correct to describe him as an untrained engineer because he trained himself; he had an insatiable curiosity about why things happened, a curiosity that went far beyond purely engineering and automotive matters, so he had knowledge of a wide variety of subjects, which would hold one spellbound – if only one could get him talking. By nature he is a quiet man – except when something stings him – and it is because of this taciturnity that he was not more widely recognized in his heyday.

Syd’s wife Ivy died in September 1992, and Syd himself passed away the following February. In an obituary written for Safety Fast! Enever’s colleague Don Hayter wrote of his former boss and mentor:

Syd had the ability to transmit his ideas and enthusiasm to all he worked with, and his attention to even the tiniest detail was legendary. He always said that information on any aspect of engineering or materials was available somewhere in a book so that it could be taken and adapted to design use.




ALEC HOUNSLOW





A formal portrait of Alec Hounslow, taken in the 1960s.
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Alec Leslie Hounslow (11 April 1911–17 October 1976) was born in Oxford. He joined MG in April 1925, aged just fourteen. However, his mechanical aptitude soon prompted his move to the racing department in 1931, where he remained until shortly after its closure in 1935. His major claim to fame in this period was that he acted as riding mechanic to Nuvolari, who won the 1933 TT. He left MG in 1935 after the closure of the racing shop, and moved to work for a short time at the short-lived Squire Cars at Remenham (near Henley-on-Thames); when that company folded in 1936, he worked for Billy Cotton and Arthur Dobson as a racing mechanic.

After World War II, Hounslow came back to Abingdon in 1946 as a service tester, and stayed there for the remainder of his career; after a brief spell in the Service Department in St Helens, he came back to the main Marcham Road factory, where, for example, he worked on the three MG TC Midgets that were raced by Ted Lund, Dick Jacobs and George Phillips. He also accompanied Captain George Eyston on his US MG record attempts (all qv).

Alec Hounslow worked hard and played hard, and expected the same level of dedication from his colleagues; he was seldom seen without a cigarette dangling from his lips (‘apprentices used to bet on how long the ash on his fag would get’ Henry Stone later wrote), and his capacity for liquid refreshment was legendary. Out of the factory he was an amazingly cheerful man and more than somewhat sociable.

When Marcus Chambers arrived at Abingdon at the end of 1954, Hounslow was somewhat sceptical as to the necessity for this new colleague, and it is fair to say that the two initially merely tolerated one another, rather than becoming firm friends. Eventually they forged a mutual respect for each other – but even so, the competition department was swiftly separated from Hounslow’s development fiefdom, much of the actual work involved in doing this being undertaken while part of the team were away for the June 1955 Le Mans race. It was Hounslow’s team that built the various running prototypes that contributed to the MGA story.

When it came to motor-sport endeavours – mostly the record-breaking attempts, once the competition department was split off from development – Hounslow’s commitment to getting the job done was total and absolute, and he would lend his support to various extra-mural racing activities.

He retired in 1974, having come up with the novel carburettor installation on the MGB GT V8, an answer to a problem that had eluded everybody else – this was typical of his genius. Unlike some of his contemporaries, Alec Hounslow appears to have slipped fairly happily into retirement: his daughter says that he was always busy in his workshop and enjoyed fixing cars for friends. He died in Wallingford in October 1976, aged just sixty-five, from lung cancer.





JOHN THORNLEY




In the history of MG there have been a handful of people in control of the business who justify the epithet ‘Mister MG’. Before the war it was unquestionably Cecil Kimber, but in the wake of his enforced departure in 1941, the mantle eventually passed to John William Yates Thornley (11 June 1909–16 July 1994). Even though Thornley was not initially the man in charge at Abingdon, nor the only man, by a long way, who deserves respect for his loyalty to MG, he was certainly its most prominent defender. Born in London in June 1909,Thornley was educated at Ardingley College and the University of London, before starting work as an articled clerk. After trading up from a motorcycle to an MG Midget at the age of twenty-one, Thornley wrote to Kimber and eventually persuaded the original ‘Mister MG’ to give him a job at Abingdon, where he started as service receptionist on 3 November 1931, moving up to the position of service manager two years later.

During the war, Thornley served in the RAOC and rose to the rank of lieutenant colonel, before rejoining MG in 1945. With the transfer of Riley production to Abingdon in 1949,Thornley was promoted again to ‘Assistant General Manager, MG Car Co. Ltd and Riley Motors Ltd’. Thornley was not at heart a purely corporate man: he knew how to defend his corner in the context of the parent organization’s machinations, but it was with MG at Abingdon where his heart and loyalties lay. He was a great ambassador for MG, particularly in his ability to forge alliances at all levels, because he managed to earn and exploit the respect and trust of the people both at the top of the parent organization and on the shop floor.

After he succeeded Jack Tatlow as head of MG’s Abingdon operations at the end of 1952,Thornley forged a positive dialogue with the Cowley mandarins, in particular Vic Oak and Sidney Smith, starting a long-running series of internal memoranda that contained many of his well written ‘thought pieces’, in which he offered up advice, usually with a careful corporate bent but clearly promoting the ‘Abingdon angle’ as much as possible.



John Thornley, at the left of this 1954 photo of the record breaker EX 179 (which shared its chassis with EX 175, the forerunner of the MGA) assumes the position and role that Cecil Kimber might have taken in similar circumstances before the war. To Thornley’s right are Syd Enever, Captain George Eyston, Alec Hounslow and Reg Jackson.
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The upheaval of the BMC merger might have threatened to see MG and Thornley incur the wrath of the Corporation’s new head, a man who could be as mercurial in his own way as Lord Nuffield himself. However, Thornley ensured he made an early positive impression on the new master – he once told the author:

Whenever I see the name of Len Lord – Sir Leonard Lord – Lord Lambury – in MG writings I always sit up a bit straight… by and large he has been much maligned in this context. Over the years he has been depicted as the big bad wolf, when in fact his overall attitude to us [MG] – and to me in particular – has scored above the line. Decisions that seemed to go against Abingdon’s interests were naturally resented, but there was never anything discriminatory or spiteful about them. Most of his decisions, when viewed with hindsight, are seen to have been well justified.



John Thornley’s first introduction to MG came with his acquisition of an MG M-Type Midget, like this 1929 car.
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Thornley claimed that the Morris Motors takeover of MG in 1935 was an example of this: ‘He wrote “finis” to all that we have come to know as “Triple M”, and all hell broke loose. But by reverting to the old basis of quantity-produced units, sales took off.’ At the same time, profitability also lifted – and with it the continued existence of the MG factory.

As we shall see, John Thornley and his principal ally Syd Enever did much to secure the future of Abingdon as a sportscar centre of excellence, and they ensured the success of both the MGA family and the products that followed. His book Maintaining The Breed was written in 1950, revised in 1956 and 1971, and reprinted in 1990, the later editions covering the MGA.



POST-WAR REBUILDING

Whilst most of the important corporate activity in the Nuffield Organisation in the 1940s tended to focus on Cowley and Coventry, the fact remained that once the war was over, Abingdon was another factory looking to pick up where it had left off in 1939. Although there had been a fire at St Helens where some of the pre-war parts and equipment had been stored, the German bombers had paid little attention to the MG factory, and its facilities remained intact; sadly the Morris Bodies facility at Coventry had fared less well, and some body-making equipment associated with pre-war MGs had been destroyed by the Luftwaffe.



To some purists, the MG T-Type was an abomination, with its Cowley-designed body and chassis and Morris engine, but in truth it revitalized MG and formed a platform for increased sales and a head start after the interruption of the war years.
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As we have seen, Ryder initially approached Vic Oak at Cowley, but he also wisely sought counsel with Cecil Cousins and Syd Enever to establish what could be achieved. It is to their credit that they were able to dig out enough of the local jigs and production data for the pre-war TA and TB, and use them to lay out the basis of what would go back into production in September 1945 as the MG TC Midget. Sales of that model took off modestly but encouragingly, with exports to Australia and South Africa being most important.



The MG TC Midget was the first post-war MG sports car, and its success has become a legend that has almost outgrown reality. Nevertheless, MG sportscar enthusiasts everywhere have much to celebrate; the TC was the first race car for such luminaries as Phil Hill and Carroll Shelby. It is easy to forget that the MGA arrived just ten years after the TC...
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Interest in the USA began to build, but as we shall see shortly, the limitations of the import and distribution arrangements contributed to the fact that just six TCs went Stateside in 1947. Of course the TC would go on to become part of the great American love affair with MG sports cars, and the Collier Brothers who had the agency in New York were well placed to help foster the interest among well heeled sports-car fans, but it would be other factors (and new people, and a new investment model) that would drive the major MG successes to come, including of course the MGA. Even so, the path to MG sports-car enlightenment would, for the time being, involve a slightly challenging journey.

In his response of 2 May 1947 to an enquiry the previous month from a Mr Elbert of Clinton Missouri, F. E. James of Nuffield Exports explained, apologetically, that the company was only able to ship small numbers of MGs via Motor Sport Inc (the Collier Brothers’ company at 745 Fifth Avenue, NYC). James explained that:

…lack of adequate representation throughout the USA is mainly due to the fact that pre-war there was little or no demand for British cars in that territory. Now that there is some demand we are faced with a shortage of supplies, and our present production is insufficient to warrant the appointing of any new Distributors. I trust that at some future date it will be possible to quote for your requirements.

Just eight years later, the MGA would be on sale.



REGINALD HANKS






Reginald Hanks became deputy to Lord Nuffield when his former boss, Miles Thomas, left the Nuffield Organisation. He was seen as a ‘safe and steady’ character but was instrumental in driving significant changes, recruiting key personnel; he might have stayed at the top had the merger with Austin never happened.
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Reginald Frederick Hanks M.I. Mech. E., MIPE (27 April 1896–15 December 1976) rose to become the effective head of the Nuffield Organisation, second only to Lord Nuffield (William Morris). He survived the union with Austin that created the British Motor Corporation (a merger he detested), only to return eventually to his first love, the railway industry. Born in Oxford, and redoubtably Edwardian, the young Hanks attended New College School (a private preparatory school dating back to 1379), and afterwards joined the Great Western Railway at the famous Swindon engineering works as an apprentice. This experience was enhanced in the usual manner with further education at the Oxford City and North Wiltshire technical schools.

After World War I, Hanks moved to Morris Motors, starting in the Service Technical Department in 1922. He progressively rose through the ranks: in 1933 he became assistant service manager, three years later he was chief inspector, and in 1937 production manager. Upon the outbreak of World War II he became general manager of the civilian repair organization, RAF, later fulfilling the same positions at Nuffield Mechanizations Ltd at Birmingham and Coventry. Next he was appointed to become general manager of Nuffield Metal Products, an important cog in the Nuffield empire.

The Commercial Motor of 23 November 1945 reported that Hanks had been appointed director and general manager of Nuffield Exports Ltd ‘in succession to Mr S. G. K. Smallbone, who had resigned after thirty years’ association with Nuffield companies’. Hanks had already assumed the role of general manager in May 1945, following a special export mission to India, in which he became staff captain, GHQ Mechanical Transport Inspection Directorate; in November he became a director for the first time. It was in this Nuffield Exports role in 1946 that Hanks and Nuffield Sales Director Donald Harrison began making exploratory trips to North America (Harrison would make several more). The Morris Motors records include an interesting letter of 29 October 1946, sent from Hanks to Sir Miles Thomas (at that time still Vice Chairman of Nuffield) during one of his trips to the USA. Hanks wrote:

As you know, we have not attempted to adopt the Austin and Standard policy, because there have not been enough cars available to exploit the American Market properly, except at the expense of many of our pre-war and loyal Distributors. My intention is to send Donald Harrison over to the USA and Canada just as soon as we have anything to offer in these new models, and we have several very useful contacts which are worthy of close investigation. Perhaps the best of them is under the auspices of Hambros Bank. This may sound rather queer, but Hambros have already taken the James Auto-Cycle in hand, and their sales figures are impressive. They set about organizing the job State by State, and build up good Sales-cum-Service depots before moving on to the next place. Incidentally, Hambros, too, support the notion that a small car like the Mosquito, and a unique production like the MG Midget, are the only lines worth pushing. Please do not take our present MG sales policy for the USA seriously. Collier Brothers are just enthusiastic amateurs, and we shall carry on with them only so long as we have such a few cars to offer. I see they have had ten to date…..

So it was Hanks who opened the door to the relationship with Hambros, which will form a recurring theme throughout the MGA story in later chapters, with particular relevance to American sales and motor sports endeavours. In 1947 he succeeded Sir Miles Thomas to become Lord Nuffield’s deputy.

Like many of his colleagues, Hanks had a fairly jaundiced view of MG even at the end of the 1940s; in his eyes – and not without some justification, it must be admitted – Morris and Wolseley affairs were considered at that time to be more important, and he saw the Americans’ affection for the MG, rather than the Nuffield Organisation’s core products, to be something of an irritation.

During Hanks’ reign, profits at the Organisation improved, and there were some short-lived overtures to Austin, but there were also various proposals to extricate MG from Abingdon, initially as part of a plan to consolidate all Nuffield Group car making at Cowley, and later as an idea to move MG production to join Riley at Coventry and to turn the Abingdon factory over to other uses. It was largely due to the efforts of MG’s ‘Pop’ Propert and the connivance of John Thornley and Cecil Cousins that these plans were thwarted; unlike them, but in common with his predecessor, Hanks was certainly not sentimental over Abingdon, but at the same time he was not an opposing partisan.

In 1949 Hanks hired Gerald Palmer with a brief to reinvent MG and Riley, and this brought with it some exciting new products. When the BMC merger took place three years later, it was unwanted by Hanks; although Hanks survived until 1955, he found his authority increasingly marginalized, as the new man in overall charge ruled from his power base at Longbridge.

Hanks finally resigned his chairmanship of Morris Motors on 10 October 1955, just as Abingdon was in the throes of celebrating its all-new sports car, and refocused on his first love, GWR, as Chairman of the Western Region Board, later British Rail Western Region. He retired from this post in 1960. Notwithstanding his move back to GWR, Hanks retained a role at BMC and only finally resigned from that shortly after his sixty-fifth birthday on 5 May 1961.



THE MOSQUITO INTERLUDE

During the war years, a prevailing view developed that the post-war customer would need compact, economical and modern motoring in the form of a kind of ‘people’s car’ in the broad image, if not the precise reflection, of the 1938 Volkswagen, which history has dubbed the ‘Beetle’.

At Morris Motors, Alec Issigonis was given a brief to create a post-war successor to the Morris 8, and his beetle-shaped car became known as the ‘Mosquito’ – appropriate enough as the name of a ‘buzz-box’. Eventually the Mosquito evolved into a three-tier family, with the ‘two-plus-two’-seater bargain-basement Mosquito at the bottom (shades of the original pre-war Morris Minor or Austin Seven), above it a new ‘Minor’ four-seater, and at the head of the range, a four-/six-seater family sized ‘Major’. From the latter, as we shall see, there were also thoughts of an ‘MG Midget Major’.



The important post-war car project as far as Morris Motors was concerned was the so-called ‘Mosquito’, which eventually reached production as the Morris Minor. The design was led by Alec Issigonis. Much work was done on trying to forge the basis of a new generation of MG sports models on the same platform – all to no avail.
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With Morris as the high-volume marque, there would, logically enough, have been more luxurious Wolseley and nominally sporting MG offshoots. The latter could have included something ostensibly roadster-like but with little resemblance to anything that had hitherto emerged from the hallowed portals at Abingdon. In this context Cecil Kimber, out of MG affairs since 1941 and destined to die in a rail accident in 1945, was undoubtedly right to have been fearful of MG’s post-war future as a sports-car maker.


THE ISSIGONIS FRONT SUSPENSION – AS SEEN ON THE MGA



Alexander Arnold Constantine Issigonis (8 November 1906–2 October 1988) had come to Morris Motors from Humber, and one of his notable early projects was the creation of a new independent front suspension system intended for the equally new ‘Morris Ten’ – Morris’s first monocoque-bodied saloon car. In the event, the special front suspension was not used for the Morris, chiefly on cost grounds, but was due to be picked up on a related MG saloon, known as the ‘MG 1¼ Litre’ (or DO 802), had the war not intervened. The prototype of this MG saloon was used during the war years by Miles Thomas, and he became keen to see it in production when peace returned. When the production car did come to fruition, as the MG Y-Type, it was the first Nuffield Group project to utilize the Issigonis front suspension – which would subsequently see sterling service in the MG TD, TF, MGA, MGB and MGC.



Once the war was over, however, the need for a new product became more pressing, and in 1946 and 1947 the Mosquito project went through a series of fits and spurts as changes of direction led to it being revised as a more upmarket model. This was partly linked to Lord Nuffield’s anathema to the style of Issigonis’s creation; his Lordship was often seen as meddling unhelpfully in Board matters, and he made it clear that he saw a clear post-war role for the more traditional pre-war styles of small Morris and Wolseley saloons. As the Mosquito evolved, the Wolseley became known as the ‘Wasp’ – cleverly reusing a model name from 1935/36; this alliterative use of insect names does not seem to have been separately extended to the MG variants, the only name seen in records being the ‘MG 1100’ (obviously not to be confused with the entirely unrelated production car of 1962). However, during this period there were some other curious ideas, such as the concept, put forward to S. V. Smith by Sir Miles Thomas, of driving largely finished cars down the road from Cowley to the former Pavlova Works, where, it was supposed, they could be subjected to road-testing and final inspection, and thereby imbued with the ‘Abingdon touch’. Harold Ryder at Abingdon was resistant to the idea, but the direction came that it had to be explored: thankfully it was another hare-brained idea later abandoned.



The proposed future Nuffield model range – with models in the MG, Morris, Riley and Wolseley marques – are seen here lined up in the main Cowley showroom, possibly ahead of an inspection by Lord Nuffield upon his return from overseas. Note the MG Midget Major (with soft top, and fake ‘EXP 926’ registration number, clearly derived from its DO926 project code) sitting between an MG YT (labelled here as an MG 1¼-litre Tourer) and a Morris Minor.

The Mosquito programme would start to unravel when, as Jon Pressnell records in his comprehensive book Morris: The Complete History, it became apparent that while Issigonis was beavering away on a brand new range of flat-four engines for his revolutionary baby, Morris Engines were separately working on an entirely unrelated family of in-line single-overhead-cam power plants at Coventry.

In the midst of this upheaval came a full-size prototype for what was called the ‘MG Midget Major’, a two-seater sports car based upon Morris Mosquito underpinnings, which appeared in a display in the in-house Cowley studio showroom for Lord Nuffield on his return from one of his frequent trips to Australia. The ‘Midget Major’ bore the Cowley ‘Design Order’ Number of DO 926, which, helpfully for historians, was used on the mocked-up number plates fixed to the display car. The prototype may have been no classical beauty, but as seen in period photos, it came with a fairly neat removable metal hardtop, which would have provided quite a departure from the loose and leak-prone affairs on the contemporary MG TC Midget.



Here we see a proposed sporting member of the ‘Mosquito’ family – DO 926 was the so-called ‘MG Midget Major’ and would have had a 1.1-litre engine. The removable hardtop was a luxury not available to MG T-Type Midget owners.


In this last aspect at least, ‘DO 926’ was perhaps in line with the views of Sir Miles Thomas, who wrote in a letter to Ryder of 30 October 1947:

I do want very careful consideration given to this question of new body models. I am perfectly sure that putting on models with cape cart hoods, or offering other types that might be described as ‘open’ would, with the exception of the case of the MG Midget, be a source of disappointment. The whole trend of motoring all over the world is for greater comfort, not less, and personally I think to go back to the old hood and sidescreens would be most frightfully retrograde.

However, perhaps mindful of plans brewing at Austin (the illfated Atlantic) and Triumph (the equally misguided TRX), he cautioned that ‘anything in the nature of a modern convertible coupé with automatic actuation would be so expensive that it would take us right out of the price field.’ The layout of DO 926 therefore offered, on the face of it, a neat compromise of either an open version or one with a hardtop – a concept that would come to fruition in the next decade with the MGA roadster and coupé. But aesthetically it was a long way removed from the style of the MG TC Midget, which was starting to earn overseas currency.

DO 926 had some other aspects in its favour: it could have used a new overhead cam 1100cc engine, which would most likely have been called the ‘ZC11G’, and there would have been economies of scale from the wider Morris and Wolseley variants. However, it was not to be: internal politics involving Lord Nuffield and Sir Miles Thomas, coupled with the concerns about government policy, meant that the ‘Mosquito’ became solely the basis of the 1948 Morris Minor, and all other peripheral marque variants of that car were dropped. It hardly helped that Lord Nuffield detested the styling of the Mosquito, without a traditional radiator grille; he described it scathingly as resembling a poached egg.

In the midst of all this turmoil, the surprise announcement on 19 November 1947 that Sir Miles Thomas had resigned from the Nuffield Group brought Reginald Hanks into the vice chairman role, reporting direct to Lord Nuffield. Hanks may not have seemed outwardly dynamic, but he could be determined and verging on ruthless where he felt a firm hand was needed; in December 1947 there was a drastic pruning of the Nuffield Board, with the removal of, among others, Harold Ryder and Victor Riley, promoting others in their places. It was Hanks, too, who really set the pattern for exports to the USA, which supported the future sales success for the MGA and beyond.

Rationalization was very much in the minds of this reinvigorated Nuffield management, and there is a common view that if planning laws had allowed, Cowley would have been expanded to assimilate various outlying satellites such as Abingdon. It was an extension of this thinking that brought forward the idea of bringing MG assembly up to Durbar Avenue, Coventry, to sit alongside Riley production at the Foleshill works. There was a simple logic behind this idea: both MG and Riley cars used timber-framed bodywork sourced at Coventry’s Morris Motors Ltd Bodies Branch, and both ranges were low volume and comparatively bespoke in nature.

With Riley’s existing engine range out on a limb, there was an argument that fitting the sporting units to MG models made some sense, and Reginald Hanks felt there was enough of an argument to sanction further studies of both new models and the production arrangements. For the car designs, a family of MG concepts was conceived over the summer of 1948 under the code sequence DO 963, 965 and 967: these were, respectively, an MG Midget two-seater (both soft-top and coupé), an MG 1½ litre saloon, and an MG 1½ litre convertible.





Part of a short-lived proposal to marry MG and Riley techniques (and powertrains), the MG ‘DO963/965/967’ family, dating from June to October 1948, would have used traditional Morris Bodies coachbuilding techniques and the Riley 1.5-litre engines. DO 963 would have been a new MG Midget, DO 965 a saloon, and DO 967 a ‘cabriolet’ convertible. The lower part of the body has some similarities with the later EX172, EX175 and MGA. When the author interviewed Gerald Palmer in 1985 he remembered this car, which was still at Cowley when he arrived back there in 1949. The saloon (DO 965) had been built as a running prototype (Palmer recalls driving it) and it featured a grained, leathercloth finish roof, rather like the RM-series Rileys. This car was a serious attempt to replace the Y-Type, but unfortunately was too much of a unique coachbuilt exercise to succeed, and was probably caught up in the internecine battle between Abingdon and Coventry.
ENEVER FAMILY

Those who remembered seeing the DO 963/5/7 proposals at first hand told the author that they used Riley engines and traditional body construction principles – ideal for the labour-intensive production techniques in use at Foleshill. The matter of possible MG production relocation to Foleshill (even as Abingdon started building the rather lacklustre MG YT Tourer for export) came to a head in November 1948. One day that month, Cecil Cousins – second-in-command to ‘Pop’ Propert – was called into his boss’s office and told to provide a guided tour of the works to Tom Richardson, the Chief Planning Engineer from Morris Motors. The background to this is recorded in a confidential paper considered by the Morris Motors Board at their meeting of 11 December 1948.

Cousins would later recount how he kept emphasizing the cleverness and simple efficiencies at Abingdon, in the process perhaps helping to convince his visitor that the factory had more going for it than the mandarins at Cowley would have anyone believe. Cousins conceded to author John McLellan that Propert was the key player in this: ‘I give Propert full credit. He was due to retire in July 1949, but he argued that Riley had no real production methods.’ Cousins called Propert ‘the Last of the Mohicans’ – meaning that he was the last of the dyed-in-the-wool senior management MG sympathizers.

In the event, Propert’s suggestion won through, and the tentative Nuffield plan was more or less reversed. As ratified at another Morris Motors Board meeting of 19 January 1949, Riley production would move from Coventry to Abingdon (and engineering responsibility to Cowley), and the Foleshill factory would became a subsidiary of Morris Motors Ltd Engines Branch; this took effect from 1 May 1949. When Propert retired at the end of July, he was replaced by Jack Tatlow from Riley (see Chapter 2), and Riley’s Chief Engineer Harry Rush moved from Coventry to Cowley. So MG at Abingdon lived to fight another day.



Harry Rush was a longserving Riley man – he is credited with the design of the distinctive blue diamond Riley badge in 1918 – but in 1949 he was the ‘Chief Designer, MG and Riley Cars’.



GEORGE PROPERT AND CECIL COUSINS






George Propert (left) seated alongside Cecil Kimber for a staff photo in 1939.
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George Propert smiles for the camera in 1949.

Without the cunning and application of George Propert and Cecil Cousins, there would probably not have been any MG work at Abingdon by 1955, and certainly no sports car like the MGA.

GEORGE PROPERT

Northampton-born George Propert (21 June 1884–22 April 1976) had been apprenticed in the steam and gas engineering industry, but moved over to work on early cars in 1904. He joined Morris Garages as works manager in 1926. With the formation of the formal MG Car Company Ltd in 1930, Propert became general manager and lived in Abingdon from 1933. Henry Stone wrote of Propert that he was effectively Kimber’s ‘front man’.

During World War II, Propert joined forces with Cecil Cousins (see below) and the two men toured various ministries looking for work. Eventually they secured a contract to overhaul some light armoured track vehicles, a precursor to major tank work and, in due course, the famous Albemarle aircraft contract which contributed to Kimber’s dismissal from MG in 1941. After the war, Propert wrote a pamphlet about the collective wartime experience of the MG factory: this is a clear demonstration of his loyalty and affection for the Abingdon factory and its workforce. This passion, as the main text explains, saved MG from an alternative fate which would never have involved the MGA. He retired on 30 July 1949, and lived in Abingdon until his death in 1976.

CECIL COUSINS



Cecil Cousins (standing) with his old friend and colleague Alec Hounslow, during a trip they took together to the USA in 1975.
HOUNSLOW FAMILY

Reporting to Propert, Oxford-born Henry Edward Cecil ‘Cuz’ Cousins (14 April 1902–28 April 1976) joined Morris Garages in January 1920 as a fitter in the cycle shop in Clarendon Yard; as such he was an ‘MG employee’ even before Cecil Kimber’s arrival the following year.

Working with fellow early colleagues Frank Stevens and Frank Lowndes, Cousins built the famous ‘Old Number One’, and would go on to be team manager for the MG ‘Double Twelve’ races at Brooklands in 1930 and 1931, which saw the MG Midget cement its reputation as a remarkable small sports car. A tall, gangling figure of six foot three, Cousins lived and breathed MG. He was responsible for car production at the company at the same time that H. N. (Hubert Noel) Charles was the chief designer. Whilst Charles was the qualified engineer with a good knowledge of theory, Cousins was the practically minded technician-engineer and the two often clashed, albeit with mutual respect.

After the war, Cousins helped with the creation of the first Abingdon-built mock-up for what became the TD Midget. In 1949, he worked in tandem with Propert to help save MG from being shifted to Coventry. By the time the MGA arrived, he was responsible for overseeing production at Abingdon, reporting to Jack Tatlow when Propert retired and then to Geoffrey Iley in the early Thornley years.

Cecil Cousins retired in May 1967.



ALL CHANGE AT COWLEY

As we have seen, for many years – and especially in the wake of Cecil Kimber’s departure – the affairs of MG were ruled from Cowley, but seemingly with almost casual, indifferent control. Leonard Lord (knighted in 1954), Miles Thomas (knighted in 1943) and Reginald Hanks had all seen Abingdon as a curiosity in the Nuffield cupboard, and the production of small numbers of essentially old-fashioned sports and saloon models had hitherto, in their eyes, warranted only modest attention. With the changes in the post-war environment, however, the pace of change in the industry and the increased focus on exports, meant that MG, with its slightly premium connotations, would move up the corporate ladder.

The upsets of the Mosquito and the Foleshill-Abingdon interludes brought the role of MG and indeed Riley to a head: there was suddenly a case to bring in some new management blood. Into this atmosphere arrived Gerald Palmer, who was effectively head hunted back from Jowett, returning to Cowley in 1949. Palmer had retained his home in Oxford when he moved up to Bradford to work for Jowett, and he had heard on the grapevine that Nuffield was looking for a new design overlord.

After an interview with Reggie Hanks, Palmer was back at Nuffield, with what seemed an incredibly free brief. ‘All I had to do was produce new cars for Riley and MG,’ he told Graham Robson in 1977. ‘There was no product planning, nothing: all I had to do was to come up with new ideas, which I hoped would be accepted. Luckily they were!’ Not long after Palmer’s arrival, the Morris Motors Board put a halt (at their meeting of 23 February 1950) to the ‘proposed MG Magnette 1½ litre with Riley engine’ – the DO 965 – which shows that the idea of using the famous 1930s MG model name considerably pre-dates the familiar Palmer-designed MG Z-Type saloon.

Meanwhile the Mosquito had been transformed into the new Morris Minor ‘MM’, launched to some acclaim at the 1948 Earls Court Motor Show – but it was clear that the MG Y-Type Saloon, and even the sports cars related to it, were becoming antiquated. At the same time, although there were plans for larger Wolseleys such as the 6/80, Palmer would swiftly dip more than a toe into Wolseley affairs as well as MG and Riley.



GERALD PALMER






Gerald Palmer was a multi-talented engineer: not only did he design his own sports car, which helped secure him a job at Cowley, he went on effectively to revitalize the Jowett company, and came back, at the invitation of Reginald Hanks, to reconfigure MG and Riley. In the meantime he even designed his own beautiful home at Iffley, Oxford. A consummate gentleman, able to share the glory with his team, unlike the comparatively narcissistic Issigonis, Palmer deserves more credit than he is often given for his role at Cowley; he was ultimately undone by the travails of the unloved Riley Pathfinder.
AUTHOR’S COLLECTION

Born in Northwood, Middlesex, the young Gerald Marley Palmer (30 January 1911–23 June 1999) wanted to design sports cars, an interest fostered through the building of a special based on a Model T Ford.

He started work at the Scammell commercial vehicle factory at Watford. After his apprenticeship, Palmer sought to assuage his sports-car itch through the creation of a fetching and quite advanced prototype, which he called the Deroy.

Sadly, the financial reality of setting up a car company meant that the Deroy remained a one-off – but it did help him to knock on doors:

I was introduced to Cecil Kimber through Brian Robbins, the Secretary of the Institution of Automobile Engineers. I brought my Deroy down to Abingdon for him to see, and he seemed quite interested, sending me over to Cowley to meet the Technical Director, Vic Oak.

Before long he was working at Cowley, running the MG drawing office there. Amongst the projects he oversaw before war broke out was a redesign of the front suspension for the Morris Eight. By 1939 his job was listed as ‘Automobile Engineer and Draughtsman’.

In the latter stages of the war, Palmer – still in his thirties – began to give thought to car making again, and seeing an advertisement from Bradford-based Jowett, he went to see the company’s managing director, Calcott Reilly.

While at Jowett, Palmer was responsible for conceiving the Javelin, which went into production as war ended. But when an opportunity opened up at Cowley, Palmer jumped at it: ‘I was naturally keen to be nearer home, and I was fascinated by the brief. I was to take over the MG and Riley work, and I had a free rein to come up with my own ideas.’

Palmer soon extended his influence to the Wolseley marque, too: ‘Vic Oak also wanted a new small and large Wolseley, and so it seemed to me that they needed two pairs of bodies – what would become the MG Magnette and Wolseley 4/44, and the bigger, full six-seater Wolseley 6/90 and Riley Pathfinder.’

When Victor Oak resigned at the end of December 1953, Palmer was promoted: on 8 January 1954 The Commercial Motor reported that ‘Mr G. M. Palmer, Chief Engineer of Morris Motors Ltd, has become group body and chassis designer responsible for both Morris and Austin designs. He is to be made a local director.’

Alongside the saloons there were other projects with an indirect bearing on the MGA story, such as Palmer’s ideas for new MG sports cars, and a twin-cam engine – the stories of which are told in the following chapters. Palmer appeared in a special new directors’ supplement in the May 1955 issue of Nuffield Teamwork, and he was described as ‘Technical Manager for the British Motor Corporation’. Amongst the fascinating projects under his wing was a front-wheel-drive small Morris with an allnew V4 engine – and this was before Alec Issigonis came back to BMC from Alvis.



Gerald Palmer created this one-off highly sophisticated sports car, which he named the ‘Deroy’; he took it to show Cecil Kimber, and on the back of that meeting was invited to Cowley by Vic Oak.
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However, the Austin-dominated BMC merger of 1952, and problems with the Pathfinder and its sister Wolseley, all contributed to an eventual parting of the ways for Gerald Palmer and BMC in the autumn of 1955. Officially he resigned on 4 October 1955, but in reality he had been told by George Harriman that his services were no longer required, ostensibly because Leonard Lord was unhappy about a review of the new Wolseley 6/90 in the 16 September 1955 issue of Autocar. As Alec Issigonis came back to BMC, Palmer went to Vauxhall courtesy of that company’s Maurice Platt; he worked in Luton for the remainder of his full-time career, retiring in 1972. He died in June 1999.

GEORGE EDWARD DONO

George Edward Dono (15 July 1903–10 November 1972) deserves a footnote here. He joined Morris Motors as the director of its ‘Sheet Metal Division’ (‘Morris Motors Ltd Pressings Branch’ since 1939) in 1947, and began to build a modern body-making enterprise within the Nuffield Organisation known as ‘Nuffield Metal Products’, initially as an internal counterpart to Morris Motors Bodies Branch, but championing monocoque construction as opposed to the Bodies Branch’s more traditional focus of timber-framed construction. In this he found a ready ally in Gerald Palmer, and as well as the body for the Riley Pathfinder, Dono assisted Palmer’s plans for a new MG sports car.

In due course, the merger with Austin brought a different complexion to the body equation: Nuffield’s body-making interests were rationalized and Austin led on the acquisition of Fisher & Ludlow. During the 1950s the tendency would become for Longbridge to take bodies from Fisher & Ludlow, and for Cowley to buy them in from the neighbouring Pressed Steel business, although NMP continued to supply Morris Minor bodies and was eventually reabsorbed into Bodies Branch, which supplied MGA and early MGB bodies but using ‘Pressed Steel’ pressings. Dono lived through that period of transition and into retirement in Woodstock.

ALBERT VICTOR OAK

Albert Victor Oak (4 November 1892–March 1969) was born in Burton-upon-Trent, Staffordshire, and grew up in the Small Heath area of Birmingham. In 1911 he described himself as an ‘engineer draughtsman’ in the motor industry. He rose through the ranks at Wolseley in the 1930s and became Chief Engineer at Morris Motors in 1937. He played a crucial role in the development of what became the Morris Minor.

On 31 December 1953 he formally tendered his resignation. In the run-up to the BMC merger Oak had been taking an important role in the development of a new Nuffield Group ohv small engine, which was swept away in favour of Austin-led designs. He had overseen the appointment of Gerald Palmer, given authority to the EX 172 Le Mans special (qv), as well as early work on what became the MGA twin cam engine.



EXPORT OR DIE – POLITICIANS AND BANKERS

World War II was a costly episode in so many ways: alongside the terrible human and social costs, the expense of waging war had a crippling impact on national economies, irrespective of whether you were the victor or the loser. Winston Churchill may have inspired the Allies to victory, but he was not to lead British Government for long after the German surrender in May 1945; at the General Election two months later, it was Clement Attlee who would lead a new Labour administration and begin to shape the pattern of the post-war British economy.

In 1946, an influential trade magazine, The Ambassador – British Export Magazine, soon became a conduit for Britain’s push for exports in search of foreign currency, and the magazine’s publisher and editor, Hans Peter Juda, coined the magazine motto ‘Export or Die’, which proved to be a rallying cry that was swiftly embraced by the government of the day.

In August 1946, the rather Orwellian-sounding Ministry of Information produced a short animated film using Export or Die as its title: the cartoon aimed to lecture Britons keen to acquire luxury goods denied them for many years as to why it was important to allow these goods to be exported to provide income for the national economy; exports, the narrator explained, generated money to buy food and raw materials such as timber. Far better, it was implied, that shiny new MGs be shipped abroad while those back home made do with a car laid up during the war years: ‘We must sell the things we like to buy the things we need,’ the narrator implored.

The motto would prove to be a recurring theme in the coming years (lasting until 1953), and focused the minds of big businesses with the potential to become major dollar earners. At the same time, the shift of ideology with a Socialist government meant that those voices calling for national ownership of big businesses received a more favourable ear, and such thinking made the main people within such enterprises increasingly nervous.

It is this industrial turmoil that provides some of the crucial context for the strange games and powerplay at Austin and Nuffield around the same time that the various experiments with new model development referred to above played out. Government made frequent noises intended to encourage British car makers to rationalize their car ranges, with the suggestion that there should be less overlap or complexity in order to give exports a better chance of success.

It was hardly the first attempted intervention by politicians in the car business, and would certainly not be the last, but one of the effects was the pruning of product plans; this appears to have helped kill off the ‘MG 1100’ Mosquito proposals described earlier, as well as contributing to the stresses and strains that precipitated the departure of Sir Miles Thomas from the Nuffield Organisation in November 1947.

Matters of production came to a head in February 1948, when the government’s Minister for Supply, George Strauss, announced that henceforth steel would only be allocated to car manufacturers who exported over 75 per cent of their output; this would prove to be a major challenge for many, and was one of the factors behind the creation of the aluminium alloy-bodied Land Rover later that year. Minutes of the contemporary Morris Motors Board meetings are littered with references to this constraint, and until the policy of rationing steel was eventually abandoned, it meant that car makers were coerced even more into the field of exports.

Against this backdrop, the car makers jostled for position, and Leonard Lord’s Austin of Longbridge seemed to gain the upper hand over his Oxford rivals when the new Austin A40 Devon – with a new powertrain that would form the basis of the MGA engine just seven years later – was launched with much fanfare in New York in September 1948, just a month before the first post-war Earls Court Motor Show at which the Morris Minor made its debut. Also in London that October was the MG YT Tourer, Nuffield’s somewhat lame attempt to chase after export currency.

Initially, Britain’s ‘Empire’ markets of Australia and South Africa were the destination for MG exports; indeed the MG TC Midget was sold in much larger numbers in Australia than in the USA. However, exporters and politicians alike wanted to see efforts focused on the American dollar, and it was this as much as anything else that had fostered those exploratory visits to North America by Reginald Hanks and his colleagues, and the alliance which they soon forged with Jocelyn Hambro, who was also looking for ways to build the world of UK exports.

Of course the process of exporting actual goods is a whole industry in itself, especially when the goods themselves are such bulky and costly items as cars; getting an MG from the end of the production line in Abingdon and on to the driveway of its enthusiastic purchaser in, say, Los Angeles or New York, involved many stages, each laden with its own costs and logistical challenges. The sheer size of the USA also meant investment in supply lines and distributors as well as dealers, for spare parts and service information as well as the cars themselves.

Other factors such as import taxes, shipping handling charges and even external factors such as currency movements when the goods were in transit (the UK government devalued the pound sterling from $4.03 to $2.80 on 18 September 1949, for example) all contributed to making car exports to the USA a major draw on resources for the company making the product. Some companies – such as Austin – bit the bullet and established their own distributor network in the USA, but the arrival of Hambro Bank at Nuffield Exports Limited’s door set the scene for how MGs would be sold in the USA right through the period when the MGA was in production.



The MG YT four-seater tourer, launched at the same time as the much more modern Morris Minor, was a Cowley idea, intended to respond to US market aspirations for a sportier offshoot of the MG Y saloon. It was not a particular success as Americans still wanted proper MG sports cars.
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The benefits that a middle-man such as Hambro offered were many: being in the money business they were naturally financially astute and able to combine efforts with different portfolios and set up lines of credit, taking a percentage of all transactions to earn a profit. As Peter Thornley explains in his book Mister MG:

If you wanted cars or parts shipped over, the dealer placed an order to the distributor who, in turn, placed an order with Hambro. They then ordered straight from the factory and the goods would be shipped straight to the distributor, at Hambro’s instructions. For the bank, this meant no inventory, no warehousing; the paperwork would be shuffled and a profitable percentage earned.

Peter Thornley adds that throughout most of the 1950s, Hambro Bank’s principal overheads were their New York office and six employees.


NUFFIELD EXPORTS LIMITED



In 1933,William Morris established a dedicated export arm to Morris Motors, based alongside the rail sidings at Cowley; it was said to be capable of handling up to 450 vehicles a week – probably appropriate in the context of the time. In due course the importance of the division mushroomed, and, as explained in the main text, it soon operated as a distinct business with its own Board, with the post-war export drive boosting its importance to the Nuffield Organisation as a whole. Even with the merger of BMC, the export organizations remained essentially separate, and Austin’s own export division was for a long time outside the umbrella of the Hambro Organisation, an integral part of the US MG sales system. Thus, for example, MG and Austin-Healey affairs were only fully rationalized in 1963.

Although there were many problems with complexities of inter-company accounts that bedevilled Nuffield and eventually BMC accounts, the Nuffield Export personnel were considered to be a breed apart from the remainder of the business. By the time the post-war export drive was in full swing and the MGA was on the way, Nuffield Exports was expanding and a massive export handling facility was built at Cowley, from where Morris, MG, Riley, Wolseley and Morris Commercial products started their journey out into the wider export world.

Although he only came to the party in 1958, French MG distributor Jean-Pierre Richard told motoring writer and historian Jon Pressnell that he had the utmost respect for his contacts within Nuffield Exports.

They were extraordinary people, whom you could really respect, and who inspired a really fabulous loyalty. It was BMC, but Nuffield had kept its character. The name ‘Austin’ was never spoken. It was ‘the others’... The Nuffield Exports people were men who’d been officers in the Army, the Navy or the RAF, who’d all fought the war. Export director Mike Trodd, for example, came from a command in the Gurkhas. Perhaps they didn’t know much about cars, but they had extraordinary organizational ability and strong personnel and discipline skills. They were very correct people, and very strict with the question of payments. Distributors in Europe could do what they wanted, so long as the basic disciplines were respected – and they were easy to respect. If you had a problem, you’d ring Mike Trodd and say ‘Mike, I’ve got a problem.’ And he’d say ‘Go and do it. I’ll be behind you.’ If there was a problem, they never wrote: they were on the telephone straightaway. And if there was a risk of something coming unravelled, they hopped on a plane. They’d arrive in the morning, and see the car. By midday it was ‘Problem solved! Hup! Time for a drink!’...

The name ‘Mike Trodd’ features in the story of the first MGA Frankfurt Motor Show car, covered in Chapter 4. Even after the end of the MGA, Nuffield Exports continued to thrive into the 1960s, until first BMC began to restructure its European operations, and then the merger with British Leyland. One of the challenges with the duality of Nuffield Exports and Hambro would be the complexities and financial overheads, as each part of the journey from Abingdon to the US customer’s driveway involved somebody taking a percentage. In good times this was manageable; in times of slower sales, the entire chain could suffer. Nuffield Exports came to the end of the road in 1968.



BUILDING THE AMERICAN MARKET

The challenge of getting MGs to markets across the USA due to that nation’s vast size has already been mentioned; coupled to this was the fact that the company – or more precisely, its partner Hambro – had to vet and recruit a nation-wide series of distributors and dealerships, starting as we have seen from modest beginnings.

We saw earlier how Reginald Hanks had spent some time criss-crossing the USA, on the basis of which he pushed for a increase in MG TC numbers for that market, and in late 1947 Donald Harrison and Jock Forsyth of Nuffield Exports followed in Hanks’s wake. Amongst other people who would go on to form part of the MG story in that country, they met Kjell Qvale (of San Francisco), Phillip Gough (of Gough Industries, Southern California) and Edward F. Furlow of S. H. Lynch (in Dallas, Texas). In Texas it was felt that there was particular potential to double sales from 50 to 100 per week in the spring of 1948.

Qvale’s introduction to MG is particularly noteworthy, as he would go on to forge a major distribution business, based in northern California, which contributed in no small way to MG’s successful sales in the Pacific Northwest. The Norwegian-born businessman already had a Jeep dealership in Alameda, just south of Oakland, California, when he made a trip to New Orleans to meet with an importer (probably Hambro) to discuss expanding his line by adding James motorcycles.

Whilst there, Qvale was waiting on the street when, as he told an interviewer in 2008, ‘…this goofy-looking car pulls up to the curb in front of me!’ Qvale asked the driver (who also happened to be the importer) where it was made; it turned out it was a British MG TC Midget. As the importer was also looking for someone to sell MGs in Northern California, Qvale returned to Alameda, sold the Jeep franchise and became an MG distributor. In 2005, Automotive News credited Qvale with a pivotal role in MG’s post-war popularity in the United States, saying he was ‘…the most imaginative and probably the hardest working importer’.

Clearly dynamic businessmen such as Kjell Qvale would be vitally important to the task of Hanks and Hambro. Meanwhile, finding no significant interest in small Morris saloons (in direct contrast to Hanks’ avowed hope that British small saloon cars would do well), it was immediately apparent where the business potential lay. Hanks wrote:

It does seem so silly that, in travelling all these miles, the only thing I am able to talk about in any seriousness is the TC Midget, which was virtually obsolete many, many years ago ...and yet there is a certain class of people who like it! Put the same type of body on the 1¼ litre chassis and we have got something. But the price must be reduced... If we really want to come into the market, let us offer something the American factories do not offer to the public – and, I suggest, never can.

Further exploratory trips followed; on 6 May 1948 S.V. Smith and Donald Harrison crossed the Atlantic ‘to assess the MG situation there’, as the Morris Motors Board heard shortly before their departure. At this point it is worth remembering that many aspects of MG’s future remained fluid; the strings were pulled from Cowley rather than Abingdon, and there was a lot of work being done on the proposed MG Midget Major, a very different style of MG sports car to the one that Americans had grown to love.
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